IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,	Supreme Court Case No. SC04-2460		
Complainant,			
v.	The Florida Bar File No. 2004-71,265(11L)		
STEVEN RAY BROWNSTEIN,	No. 2004-71,203(11L)		
Respondent.	,		
	/		
The Florida Bar's Initial Brief on Appeal			

VIVIAN MARIA REYES

Bar Counsel Florida Bar No. 004235 The Florida Bar 444 Brickell Ave., Suite M-100 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-4445

JOHN ANTHONY BOGGS

Staff Counsel Florida Bar No. 253847 The Florida Bar 651 East Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399 (850) 561-5839

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR.

Executive Director Florida Bar No. 123390 The Florida Bar 651 East Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399 (850) 561-5839

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This matter was heard by Judge Jacqueline Schwartz, serving as referee.

The final hearing was held on January 25, 2006 and February 1, 2006.

Stipulated Facts

The parties stipulated to the following facts:

- 1. Respondent is and was at all times material herein a member of The Florida Bar, albeit suspended by an order of emergency suspension dated November 8, 2004, and subject to the jurisdiction and disciplinary rules of the Supreme Court of Florida.
- 2. On or about August 26, 2004, a subpoena duces tecum was duly executed and served upon Steven Ray Brownstein commanding him to appear before The Florida Bar's staff auditor on September 14, 2004, at 10:00 a.m. at the offices of The Florida Bar and produce at that time original bank statements, canceled checks, check stubs, deposit slips, wire transfers, cashier's checks issued with supporting documentation, receipt and disbursement journals, client ledger cards, HUD-1 statements for all real estate transactions, closing statements from any personal injury case, bank and client reconciliations from the account identified as Steven R. Brownstein, maintained at Union Planters account #1400022665 (operating), and any trust account in which he has signatory capacity and any other account in which the funds pertaining to Mobilestop were placed, for

the period of January 1, 2003, to the present. In addition, a subpoena was also issued to the banking institution.

- 3. The request for an audit was predicated upon the complaint of James P. E. Roen, Esq., Respondent's partner in the firm of Levey, Airan, Brownstein, Shevin, Friedman, Roen & Kelso, LLP. Mr. Roen alleged that Respondent failed to disburse client's funds that were entrusted to him, specifically \$20,000.00 from a settlement of \$80,000.00 received by Respondent in October 2003, regarding a corporation identified as Strax.
- 4. In January, 2004, Respondent issued from the bank account identified as Steven R. Brownstein, maintained at Union Planters Bank account #1400022665 (operating), two checks in the amount of \$10,000.00 each payable to Alan Goldberg Trustee and identified the disbursements as "Strax Settlement." Those two checks were dishonored by the bank due to non-sufficient funds.
- 5. On or about April 2, 2004, Alan L. Goldberg, Chapter 7 Trustee for the estates of Mobilestop Com, Inc., filed a "Motion of Alan L. Goldberg, Chapter 7 Trustee (I) To Compel Compliance With Settlement and Compromise or, in the Alternative, For Entry of Judgment Against Defendants for the Settlement Balance and (II) For Order to Show Cause as to Why Attorney Steven R. Brownstein Delivered Two Worthless Checks to the Trustee."

- 6. On September 14, 2004, Respondent failed to appear or produce to The Florida Bar any of the records identified in the Bar's subpoena.
- 7. On or about October 14, 2004, Union Planters Bank delivered the bank statements, canceled checks and items deposited from account #1400022665 (operating), for the period of January 1, 2003, to April 30, 2004, and the account identified as Steven R. Brownstein, Trust Account #1700020544 (trust), for the period of January 1, 2003, to July 31, 2004.
- 8. On October 15, 2003, the beginning balance in Respondent's trust account #1700020544 (trust), was \$50.30. On the same day, Respondent deposited a check from Great American Insurance Companies in the amount of \$40,000.00, payable to Steven R. Brownstein Trust, regarding the insured Strax Holdings, Inc.
 - 9. These funds were used by Respondent in the following manner:

<u>DATE</u>	<u>CK #</u>	<u>PAYEE</u>	AMOUNT	REFERENCE
10-16-03	889	Levey, Airan, Brownstein	\$ 5,000.00	Strax
10-22-03	890	Steven Brownstein	6,500.00	No reference
10-22-03	891	Steven Brownstein	6,500.00	No reference
10-28-03	892	Steven Brownstein	2,600.00	No reference
10-31-03	893	Steven Brownstein	1,500.00	No reference
11-17-03	W/T	Levey, Airan, Brownstein	17,500.00	Ocean Bk
11-28-03	894	Steven R. Brownstein	212.00	Strax

10. On November 30, 2003, the balance in Respondent's trust account was \$238.70. On December 15, 2003, Respondent issued another check in the amount of \$238.00 to himself, leaving a balance in the trust account of \$0.30. This was the last transaction recorded in this trust account.

- \$20,000.00 received on October 15, 2003, from the Strax settlement. On or about January 23, 2004, Respondent issued from account #1400022665 (operating), his check #8546 in the amount of \$10,000.00 payable to Alan Goldberg, Trustee and identified the disbursement as pertaining to "Strax." On January 23, 2004, the balance in Respondent's account #1400022665 (operating) was an overdraft in the amount of \$8,524.89.
- 12. On February 9, 2004, check #8546 in the amount of \$10,000.00 was presented to the bank for payment and was dishonored due to insufficient funds. The balance in the account on February 9, 2004, was \$184.82.
- 13. On or about January 30, 2004, Respondent issued from account #1400022665 (operating), his check #8547 in the amount of \$10,000.00 payable to Alan Goldberg Trustee and identified the disbursement as pertaining to "Strax." On January 30, 2004, the balance in Respondent's account #1400022665 (operating) was \$220.11.
- 14. On February 9, 2004, check #8547 was presented to the bank for payment and was dishonored due to insufficient funds. The balance in the account on February 9, 2004, was \$184.82.

15. From March 10, 2003, to April 27, 2004, Respondent's bank account #1400022665 (operating) had checks presented 30 times to the bank and dishonored due to insufficient funds.

16. The following transactions between Respondent's two accounts revealed (the law firm of Levey Airan Brownstein et al is referred to "L.A.B."):

<u>DATE</u>	TRANSACTION	DEPOSITS	PAYMENTS	BALANCE
01-07-04	Ck 8539 L.A.B.		\$ 3,000.00	(\$3,315.63)
01-09-04	From L.A.B.	3,500.00		7.30
01-14-04	From L.A.B.	4,000.00		(2,637.89)
01-15-04	Ck 8545 L.A.B.		2,300.00	(5,266.89)
01-16-04	From L.A.B.	3,000.00		(2,324.89)
01-20-04	From L.A.B.	3,300.00		975.11
01-23-04	Ck 8549 L.A.B.		9,500.00	(8,524.89)
01-26-04	From L.A.B.	8,640.00		86.11
01-27-04	Ck 8550 L.A.B.		6,284.00	(6,197.89)
01-28-04	From L.A.B.	6,630.00		403.11
01-29-04	Ck 8551 L.A.B.		8,874.00	(8,470.89)
01-30-04	From L.A.B.	9,000.00		220.11
02-03-04	Ck 8557 L.A.B.		11,000.00	(12,545.15)
02-04-04	From L.A.B.	12,700.00		96.85
02-05-04	From L.A.B.	2,800.00		
02-05-04	Ck 8559 L.A.B.		14,000.00	(11,132.15)
02-06-04	From L.A.B.	14,500.00		438.85
02-10-04	Ck 8561 L.A.B.		14,788.00	
02-10-04	Bank dishonored			
	check 8561	14,788.00		68.82
02-12-04	Ck 8562 L.A.B.		8,898.00	
02-12-04	Bank dishonored			
	check 8562	8,898.00		39.82
02-19-04	Ck 8564 L.A.B.		9,500.00	
02-19-04	Bank dishonored			
	check 8564	9,500.00		
02-19-04	Ck 8565 L.A.B.		3,500.00	
02-19-04	Bank dishonored			
	check 8565	3,500.00		10.82

- 17. Every check issued or deposited from or to Levey, Airan Brownstein, et.al., was signed by Respondent. In February, 2004, Union Planters Bank dishonored checks issued by Respondent if the account did not have sufficient funds to cover it.
- 18. Based upon the foregoing, Respondent has violated Rule 4-8.4(c) (A lawyer shall not engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation), of the Rules of Professional Conduct; and Rule 5-1.1(a) (Nature of Money or Property Entrusted to Attorney), Rule 5-1.1(b) (Application of Trust Funds or Property to Specific Purpose), Rule 5-1.1(e) (Notice of Receipt of Trust Funds; Delivery; Accounting), Rule 5-1.2(b) (Minimum Trust Accounting Records), Rule 5-1.2(c) (Minimum Trust Accounting Procedures), and Rule 5-1.2(d) (Record Retention) of the Rules Regulating Trust Accounts.

Testimony and Evidence Presented at Trial

In addition to the foregoing stipulations, the following evidence and testimony were presented at trial:

<u>The Bar's Staff Auditor's Investigation of Respondent's Misappropriation in 2003 and 2004</u>

The Florida Bar's auditor, Carlos Ruga, testified at trial that he reviewed Respondent's trust and operating accounts which were obtained from Respondent's banks, and opined that Respondent misappropriated money entrusted to him by his client and was involved in check-kiting. (T. 119, 97- 101, 116-117). Mr. Ruga

testified that Respondent had commingled funds by depositing personal funds into his trust account during the period of January 1, 2003, to June 30, 2003. (T. 102, 108, 111). Mr. Ruga testified that during January and February of 2004, the evidence established that Respondent was check-kiting by using his operating account and another account, identified as Levey, Airan, Brownstein, Shevin, Friedman, Roen & Kelso, LLP, for which he had signatory capacity. (T. 97-101, 116-17). Mr. Ruga prepared a chart illustrating Respondent's check kiting. (T. 97, TFB Ex. H). Although Respondent stipulated to misappropriating \$20,000.00 on the Strax matter, Mr. Ruga used the chart to show the Respondent's misappropriation. (T. 108-109, 114-119, TFB Ex H). Respondent later borrowed \$20,000.00 from a friend in order to repay the Strax funds. (T. 112, 247). He knowingly repaid his friend with a worthless check. (T. 112, 248). Respondent never produced any document or record to The Bar, therefore, Mr. Ruga was unable to perform a complete audit. (T. 94-95, 114-115). However, based on the preliminary audit, Mr. Ruga determined that Respondent had misappropriated a portion of Strax's funds and was involved in a check-kiting scheme. (T. 96-117).

Respondent's Legal Career

The Respondent testified that he graduated from law school in 1974. (T. 174). Respondent worked for approximately ten years at different law firms and became a sole practitioner in 1984. (T. 175-76). Respondent served as "of

counsel" for Lewis Levey from 1999 until 2001 when he joined their firm. (T. 179). In 1997 and 1998 Respondent made \$600,000.00 in income. (T. 220, 244). Respondent paid for his children's private college tuition and was a member of a country club. (T. 244, 45). Respondent testified he had a series of depressive episodes throughout different periods of his life. (T. 179-182). Respondent admitted his modus operandi was to avoid conflict and stressful situations. (T. 181). Respondent, however, did not go to any doctor to address these episodes until the Bar matter. (T. 203-205).

Additional Earlier Misappropriation

Respondent admitted that the first time he misappropriated trust funds was in the 1990's. (T. 189-190, 267-271). Respondent testified that he remembered taking and using clients' funds for a period of time and then putting the money back. (T. 269-271). Respondent was making substantial amount of money during the time of this misappropriation. (T. 177, 220, 244, 269). Respondent knew misappropriating this money was wrong, but blamed his behavior on having an episode of depression. (T. 269, 271).

From 2000 to 2004, Respondent made a yearly net income of \$150,000 to \$200,000.00 substantially less than the \$600,000.00 he had made in previous years. (T. 220). While Respondent, whose wife was not working, had a high mortgage, credit card bills, and his children were in private colleges, he never told

his wife that he was making less money and they continued their same lifestyle. (T. 221, 246).

Respondent admitted that from 2000 through 2004, he used his trust account for his personal use. (T. 189, 192). During this period, Respondent misappropriated client's money and would use the fees or borrowed money to repay the funds. (T. 192, 215, 274). For example, Respondent would receive \$5,000.00 in his trust account, he would use \$1,000.00 for his personal use and then put it back. (T. 192). Another example given by Respondent is that during the period from 2000 through 2004, he would receive \$3,000.00 from a client to be held in trust, then he would take \$1,000.00 and use it for his personal use. (T. 274). Respondent would receive another \$3,000.00 and use it to pay back the first client. (T. 274, 275). Respondent would continually take client's money and use it for his personal expenses. (T. 243).

Respondent offered no explanation why he took his clients' money, but knew that it was wrong when he did it. (T. 193, 246). Respondent could not tell the Court how many times he used clients' trust money for his personal use. (T. 192). Respondent admitted knowing that he shouldn't be taking his client's money, but it seemed to be the easiest way to avoid a problem. (T. 195). Respondent testified that the misappropriation occurred during an episode of depression. (T. 194). Respondent's clients never knew that he was

misappropriating their money. (T. 189, 246). Ultimately, Respondent had to borrow money on his home's equity or from friends to pay back the funds he misappropriated. (T. 215, 247-49).

Respondent's Four-Year Misappropriation Of Secretary's Social Security Withholding Tax

Ms. Sardinia, who was hired by the Respondent in early 2000 as his secretary, testified that when she began to work for the Respondent, he was upbeat, but then he slowly began to change. (T. 154-56). ¹ In 2000, and every subsequent year for four years, Ms. Sardinia and Respondent would prepare her W-2's. (T. 161-62, 249-250). She used a website to calculate all of her withholdings and taxes based on her salary. (T. 162-63). While Respondent deducted the calculated amount from every one of her paychecks for four years—he failed to remit or report Ms. Sardinia's taxes. (T. 250). Every single week for four years, Respondent and Ms. Sardinia would calculate how much to deduct from her salary for her withholding, Social Security, et cetera. (T. 229-230). Respondent would withdraw withholding tax from every one of Ms. Sardinia's paychecks, but never gave the government that money. (T. 230-231, 250-51). Respondent kept this income for his personal use. (T. 250). Respondent has yet to report or pay these

¹ Ms. Sardinia testified that Respondent began to would come in later and ask her to hold his calls. (T. 155-56). Ms Sardinia testified that Respondent would lie down on his sofa. (T. 156). Ms. Sardinia was unclear exactly when Respondent's behavior changed. (T. 156-157).

outstanding payroll taxes. (T. 251). Ms. Sardinia contacted the Social Security Administration and was told that there was no record of any of her withholdings tax. (T. 165). When Ms. Sardinia confronted Respondent he misled Ms. Sardinia telling her not to worry that he would take care of it, but he never did. (T. 166, 251).

Respondent's Failure To Pay Federal Personal Income Taxes

Respondent also testified that starting from approximately the year 2000 to 2004 he failed to file or pay his own personal income tax returns because he could not bring himself to do it. (T. 229, 252, 264). For the next few years, it became convenient for Respondent to avoid preparing and paying his personal income taxes. (T. 264). Respondent did not want to sit down and analyze how much money he made or did not make, so he avoided it all together. (T. 266). Respondent knew he had an obligation to prepare, file and pay his personal income taxes, and that failure to do so may be a federal crime, but year after year he chose not to do it. (T. 252).

Strax Matter

In 2003, Respondent thought he had performed one of his greatest selling jobs with a client named "Strax." (T. 183). Respondent convinced the client that he and his firm had the ability to defend the case and was confident of his ability to handle the case. (T. 184-85). The Strax matter was a bankruptcy litigation case

where the Trustee was suing Strax and the Respondent was able to settle the case and get a favorable result for Strax. (T. 183-85). The case was settled for \$80,000.00, the insurance company paid \$40,000.00 and Strax paid the remaining \$40,000.00. (T. 185). The insurance proceeds were deposited in Respondent's trust account. (T. 186). Respondent used \$20,000.00 from those funds for his personal use and paid the Trustee the remaining funds and the \$40,000.00 paid by Strax. (T. 187). There was still \$20,000.00, however, that were due under the settlement. (T. 187). The Trustee and his attorney would call Respondent and Respondent would give them excuses for his non-payment. (T. 187). Finally, the Trustee through his attorney, had to file a motion in the Bankruptcy Court compelling payment. (T. 187). Respondent gave the Trustee two \$10,000.00 checks from his personal account and both checks were returned for non-sufficient funds. (T. 187). The Trustee included the worthless check issue within its motion. (T. 187-188). As a result, Respondent borrowed \$20,000.00 from a friend and used it to pay the Trustee. (T. 188). The Referee asked Respondent what was he thinking when he took \$20,000.00 from his trust account instead of borrowing it from a friend. (T. 203). Respondent responded that his head was telling him to take the easy way out. (T. 203). Respondent further added that he did it because it caused no pain or conflict. (T. 203).

Check Kiting

In 2003, Respondent admitted that he intentionally would write checks between two of his accounts and knew that at the time he wrote the checks he did not have enough funds in either account to cover them. (T. 225-27, 252-53). The bank officers would call Respondent and tell him that he had an overdraft of "x" amount and to deposit money to cover it. (T. 252-253). Respondent testified that his only alternative was to write a check from another account that he knew had insufficient funds. (T. 253). Respondent denied that the bank officers knew he did not have enough money to cover these uncollected checks. (T. 253). Respondent offered the excuse that he was expecting money to come in. (T. 252-253). Respondent stopped his check-kiting because his bank officer told him that the bank could not give him approval for his check. (T. 255). Check-kiting is "the illegal practice of writing a check against a bank account with insufficient funds to cover the check, in the hope that the funds from a previously deposited check will reach the account before the bank debits the amount of the outstanding check." Black's Law Dictionary 231 (7th ed. 1999). (T. 242).

Respondent's Mental State

Respondent testified that he had episodes of depression throughout his life. (T. 179-182). The first time Respondent ever sought help for his condition was in December 2004, on his attorney, Mr. Baron's advice to go speak to Dr. Eustace.

(T. 30, 205). Respondent went five times for 12 hours to Dr. Eustace for a comprehensive evaluation in order to establish a diagnosis. (T. 29, 31-2). Dr. Eustace concluded that Respondent was suffering from major depressive disorder, recurrent. (T. 36, 77). According to Dr. Eustace, Respondent would have a very good prognosis if properly treated. (T. 67). Dr. Eustace based his diagnosis exclusively on Respondent's statements and did not interview anyone else or do any independent research before formulating his diagnosis. (T. 68-71). Dr. Eustace testified that Respondent had experienced three periods of depressions in his life: The first was when the Respondent was a law student; the second episode affected his family; the third episode affected the workplace. (T. 44-45). During cross examination, Dr. Eustace agreed that keeping a particular lifestyle is one of the major stressors for licensed professionals and used the medical model to opine that the nature of Respondent's stressor was clearly financial. (T. 87). Dr. Eustace testified that Respondent had not told him about keeping Ms. Sardinia's Social Security and withholding taxes. (T. 80). Dr. Eustace did not ask Respondent questions, but rather accepted anything Respondent told him. (T. 80). Dr. Eustace testified that all throughout Respondent's misappropriations and misdeeds he knew it was wrong. (T. 84). Respondent knew the difference between right and wrong. (T. 84). Dr. Eustace agreed that Respondent's condition could recur at any time there was an emergence of any psycho-social stressor. (T. 87).

During 2000 through 2004, Respondent still had income-producing clients. (T. 216). Respondent played golf during this period and handled the Strax matter. (T. 245). Respondent would often play golf with his friend of thirty-four years, Tod Aronovitz. (T. 136, 141). Mr. Aronovitz, Respondent's character witness, testified that he noticed Respondent more serious and melancholic but did not ask Respondent if anything was wrong. (T. 138, 142). Mr. Aronovitz loaned Respondent a large sum of money without asking what it was for. (T. 144).

Respondent's Non-Compliance

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