IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,		
		SUPREME COURT CASE No. SCO4 – 2460
COMPLAINANT,		
v.		THE FLORIDA BAR FILE No. 2004-71, 265 (11L)
STEVEN RAY BROWNS	TEIN,	2004-71, 203 (11L)
RESPONDENT.		
	/	
F	RESPONDENT'S	S ANSWER BRIEF

RICHARD BARON, ESQ. TFB #178675 RICHARD BARON & ASSOCIATES 201 N.E. 1ST AVENUE SUITE 201 MIAMI, FLORIDA 33132

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

For this Honorable Court to fairly judge Mr. Brownstein it must understand that the symptoms of progressive and recurrent depression are insidious and the resulting inexplicable behavior easily misunderstood as simple bad acts. If the evidence presented showed that Mr. Brownstein was walking unclothed through his neighborhood in the middle of the night singing Jingle Bells then it would be readily apparent to all that a mental illness is present. However, to any observer Mr. Brownstein's individual acts in either writing checks as in the alleged "check kiting", or the trust account violation, when viewed in isolation appear to be simply dishonest. However, such is not the case and the evidence established otherwise.

III. THE TRUST FUND IMPROPRIETY AND THE "CHECK KITING" WERE WHOLLY THE RESULT OF THE MENTAL ILLNESS OF MR. BROWNSTEIN.

As was found by the Referee, it was this illness that caused Mr. Brownstein to commit the trust fund improprieties. (R.O.R. 9). As was explained by the Florida

Bar in their brief, Mr. Brownstein received funds in trust in a bankruptcy case that he was obligated to forward to the client. Knowing full well that the funds were expected and despite contact from the Trustee he failed to comply with the request for almost six months with the certain knowledge that the matter would be brought to the attention of the court and the Florida Bar. Nonetheless, he did nothing. For a man of Mr. Brownstein's character and reputation, this behavior was and remains inexplicable on its face. However, once diagnosed with the paralyzing effects of the mental illness, the cause became clear.

In questioning Mr. Brownstein on this subject the Referee was again given evidence of the irrational and incomprehensible effects of the mental illness.

Examination of Mr. Brownstein by the Referee (T. 199)

THE REFEREE: And they --- you have a duty at some time representing a client.

THE REFEREE: I know. In that case, yes.

THE WITNESS: That's exactly what I'm talking about.

THE REFEREE: Okay.

THE WITNESS: I think it's the perfect example, Your Honor, of where I was mental, that I knew this was going to happen. It was a matter of time. It went on for four months, five months --- I think at least four months where I didn't pay him and finally they filed a motion and knowing -- and I got the money four days before the hearing was going to take place. I could have avoided -- I could have done the same thing that I did and avoided it four months before and it would have been over and done. I didn't have the - I don't want to say -- it doesn't sound right, the mental capacity. I didn't have the emotional ability to face that and say, go do it, until I was, I was thrown under

the bus.

THE REFEREE: You couldn't ask for help.

THE WITNESS: Basically correct.

THE REFEREE: Okay.

THE WITNESS: That's correct; however one wants to define it, but I couldn't do that which would made things -- made this not happen,

and I didn't have that ability.

This exchange best exemplifies the nature of the disease. Mr. Brownstein knew what he was supposed to do and could have very easily dealt with the problem appropriately and without repercussions. Nonetheless, he failed to take any action to prevent a patently looming major and life changing problem. As was explained by Dr. Eustace this is the classic progression of the disease with the attendant emotional paralysis taking greater hold as stressors are added.

As to the "check kiting", the Florida Bar has gone to unusual lengths to label the operating account transactions as check kiting with the mind that check kiting is a virtually automatic disbarment. Regardless of the label assigned, if this were a classic check kiting scheme it is of a brand rarely seen. ⁶

_

⁶ In the classic scheme there is a fraudulent reason for the unsupported deposits with the end goal being that the schemer benefits from the kited checks in the form of a cashed check or some third party holding an uncollectible check or the bank being responsible for the loss. Here that was not the case and the Referee found as much. Both of the accounts were solely in the name and under the responsibility of Mr. Brownstein. Mr. Brownstein was writing checks to himself and no one was defrauded.

As was found by the Referee, these transactions occurred over a short period of time (5 weeks) and involved two accounts on which Mr. Brownstein was the sole and only authorized signatory. There were no victims as in a classic check kiting scheme and Mr. Brownstein enjoyed good banking relationships both before and after the questionable transactions. ⁷

It is undisputed and agreed that the transactions were sloppy and irrational. Most importantly, as was found by the Referee (R.O.R. 8 - 9), this was not an intentional and dishonest scheme and was again the result of the progressive and debilitating mental disease with which Mr. Brownstein is afflicted.

IV. THE FLORIDA BAR'S ARGUMENTS FOR DISBARMENT WERE CONSIDERED AND REJECTED BY THE REFEREE WHO WAS IN A BETTER POSITION TO VIEW THE EMOTIONAL STATE AND CREDIBILITY OF

_

The Referee additionally negated the requisite intent that would be necessary for the check writing to be deemed check kiting in finding: "The transactions were over a short period of time and involved substantially less than the Respondent's average gross monthly income. Here, the Respondent averaged approximately \$20,000 per month in gross income and had for several years prior to the month in question. Here, the checks started at \$3,000 and after writing checks back and forth between the accounts for approximately five weeks the amount totaled \$14,788. (Here, the checks cannot be totaled as each check was written to include the previous check and so on.) Therefore, as this was an isolated occurrence when the Respondent's legal and banking practice is viewed over a period of many years, this Court accepts that the Respondent in good faith believed that his established income would have covered the checks and that an unusual lack of income over a period of five weeks led to the questioned transactions." (R.O.R. 7-8).

THE WITNESSES AND THE RESPONDENT ON THE EXISTENCE OF A MENTAL ILLNESS AND THE BEHAVIOR RESULTING FROM THE MENTAL ILLNESS.

The referee is in the best position to judge the credibility of the witnesses, and this Court defers to the referee's assessment and resolution of any conflicting testimony. See *The Florida Bar v. Batista* 2003 WL 1883661 (Fla. 2003); ("The referee is in a unique position to assess the credibility of witnesses, and his judgment regarding credibility should not be overturned absent clear and convincing evidence that his judgment is incorrect.") *The Florida Bar v. Fredericks*, 731 So. 2d 1249, 1251 (Fla. 1999); *Florida Bar v. Thomas*, 582 So. 2d 1177, 1178 (Fla. 1991); (where testimony conflicts, referee is charged with responsibility of assessing credibility based on demeanor and other factors). *Florida Bar v. Hayden*, 583 So. 2d 1016, 1017 (Fla. 1991).

The Florida Bar argued for disbarment before the Referee based upon the Florida Bar's position that Mr. Brownstein did not suffer from mental illness sufficient to be a mitigating factor against disbarment. This argument was rejected by the Referee and now the Florida Bar is, in effect, asking this Honorable Court to substitute the Referee's findings and judgment with that of this Court. "Absent a showing that the referee's findings are clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary

support, this Court is precluded from reweighing the evidence and substituting its judgment for that of the referee." *The Florida Bar v. Wohl*, 842 So.2d 811 (Fla. 2003); *Florida Bar v. Sweeney*, 730 So.2d 1269, 1271 (Fla.1998) (quoting *The Florida Bar v. Spann*, 682 So.2d 1070, 1073 (Fla. 1996)).

The Respondent would urge that this is particularly applicable in a matter involving the factual determination of a mental illness and the issue of fraudulent or selfish intent which is critical to this Court's review. Here, the record cannot connote the possible malingering, emotion, credibility or tears of the witnesses that testified before the Referee, and, as such, it is respectfully asserted that in this type of case the findings of the Referee be assigned even greater weight.

V. THE ISSUE OF INTENT IS A FINDING OF FACT AND THE REFEREE FOUND, ON UNREBUTTED TESTIMONY, THAT THE RESPONDENT DID NOT HAVE A DISHONEST, FRAUDULENT OR SELFISH MOTIVE AND THEREFORE CORRECTLY FOUND THE LACK OF AN AGGRAVATING FACTOR UNDER STANDARD 9.22(b).

The Florida Bar argues that the Referee, in her report, specifically found conduct by the Respondent that constitutes aggravation under Standard 9.22(b), which declares dishonest or selfish motive as an aggravating factor, yet failed to consider this aggravation in her disciplinary recommendation. The Florida Bar

arrives at this conclusion by arguing that the Referee specifically found Respondent guilty of violating Rule 4-8.4(c) for engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation (R.O.R. 10), a necessary element of which is intent, yet failed to find dishonest or selfish motive and, instead, found the absence of same as a mitigator. The record below fully supports the distinction made by the Referee.

As previously outlined in the statement of the case, the mental illness of Mr. Brownstein progressed to psycho-motor retardation (T. 38), wherein he was emotionally paralyzed to the point of avoiding phone calls and laying on his couch for hours at the office (T. 156-157), not filing his personal taxes, not filing the withholding tax forms or making the deposits for employees and finally ignoring the request by the Florida Bar for documents which led to his emergency suspension. Only then, after consultation with counsel and the intervention of mental health care professionals, was he able to even address these proceedings. In lieu of disputing the facts as outlined in the complaint, he pled guilty to the facts with the only issue remaining being evidence of his illness, intent, and motive in mitigation.

As such, the violation of Rule 48.4(c) for engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation was based on a <u>plea</u> and not <u>proof</u> and the plea was not entered based on Mr. Brownstein's admission to dishonesty or fraud but based on undersigned counsel's view that his actions involved deceit

or misrepresentation. They are not the same.

First, there is a critical difference that is recognized by this Court between fraud and deceit that is not acknowledged by the Florida Bar. In *The Florida Bar v*. *Varner* 780 So.2d 1,5 (Fla. 2001), this Court delineated the distinction between an attempt to deceive as opposed to an attempt to defraud and held:

"However, the cases relied upon by the Bar as supporting a ninety-one-day suspension are likewise distinguishable from the instant case. The Bar likens this case to fraud cases in which this Court imposed disbarment. See <u>Florida Bar v. Cramer</u>, 678 So.2d 1278 (Fla.1996) (attorney with prior disciplinary record was disbarred for making fraudulent representations to lenders and failing to respond to the Bar's inquiry); <u>Florida Bar v. Forbes</u>, 596 So.2d 1051 (Fla.1992) (lawyer disbarred following felony conviction for bank fraud and making materially false statements in obtaining loans). As discussed, the basis for finding Varner guilty of violating <u>rule 4-8.4(b)</u> was that the conduct at issue involved an attempt to deceive, not an intent to defraud. Thus, the fraud cases relied upon by the Bar are distinguishable."

It would appear that this Court in *Varner* has defined fraud as misleading conduct for the purpose of financial gain or selfish motive, whereas deception is misleading conduct for other non-selfish purposes, like here, where actions resulted from mental disease. Here, the Referee specifically found the absence of such motive because the unrebutted evidence established that but for the advanced mental illness of Mr. Brownstein the complained of acts would not have occurred (T.42).

Secondly, the element of intent must be shown to find a violation of Rule 4-8.4 (c). In *The Florida Bar v. Fredericks*, 731 So.2d 1249 (Fla. 1999), and as stated by the Florida Bar in their brief, in order to sustain a violation of Rule 4-8.4(c), the Bar must <u>prove</u> intent. *The Florida Bar v. Brown*, 905 So. 2d 76, 81 (Fla. 2005). Here, notwithstanding that the Respondent entered a plea to the violation, the Florida Bar did not and could not prove dishonest, fraudulent or selfish intent. Here the Referee found no such intent and specifically found the absence of such intent due to Mr. Brownstein's mental illness. (R.O.R. 7-8)

Therefore, the Referee correctly considered the plea to the violation of Rule 4-8.4 (c) in determining an appropriate sanction, but correctly found the absence of a dishonest or selfish motive on the evidence presented. As such, a plea to a violation of Rule 4-8.4 (c) does not *de facto* establish aggravation under Standard 9.22(b) and the Referee, therefore, properly excluded aggravation under Standard 9.22(b) and, correspondingly, correctly viewed it as a mitigator.

VI. ANY TECHNICAL ERRORS MADE BY THE REFEREE IN FAILING TO FIND AGGRAVATING FACTORS UNDER STANDARD 9.22(e) AND STANDARD 9.22(l) IN THE REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION WERE HARMLESS. AT MOST, REMAND FOR CLARIFICATION SHOULD BE ORDERED.

The Florida Bar additionally asserts that the Referee erred in failing to find aggravating factors under Standard 9.22(e) and Standard 9.22(l).

Standard 9.22 (e) lists as an aggravating factor "bad faith obstruction of the disciplinary proceeding by intentionally failing to comply with rules or orders of the disciplinary agency". As stated, due to the emotional paralysis suffered by Mr. Brownstein, he failed to respond the requests of the Florida Bar as he failed to address other document and filing requirements of the IRS, which resulted in his emergency suspension. This evidence was submitted to the Referee via the plea of Mr. Brownstein and addressed in the report. (R.O.R. 3). The Referee did, however, fail to mention this fact in the analysis of the aggravating factors. Nonetheless, in light of the Referee finding the absence of dishonest, fraudulent or selfish intent due to Mr. Brownstein's illness, it can safely be said that when the report is viewed as a whole, there would likewise be no finding of bad faith, or that it can be inferred from the language and tenor of the report there is no finding of bad faith, as required under Standard 9.22 (e).

Standard 9.22 (i) lists as an aggravating factor "substantial experience in the practice of law". Again, the Florida Bar is correct that the Referee failed to mention this fact in the analysis of the aggravating factors. As Mr. Brownstein's experience was not in issue and the Referee clearly had this evidence before her when making

the findings and recommendations (R.O.R. 12) ⁸, this omission is meaningless when the report is viewed as a whole.

It is respectfully suggested that when the report is viewed as a whole, an error in failing to find aggravating factors under Standard 9.22(e) and Standard 9.22(l) were technical, procedural and harmless and did not either prejudice the Florida Bar or work a miscarriage of justice. F.S. § 59.041 states in material part:

No judgment shall be set aside or reversed, or new trial granted by any court of the state in any cause, civil or criminal, on the ground of misdirection of the jury or the improper admission or rejection of evidence or for error as to any matter of pleading or procedure, unless in the opinion of the court to which application is made, after an examination of the entire case it shall appear that the error complained of has resulted in a miscarriage of justice. This section shall be liberally construed.

An order of the trial court will not be disturbed unless the complaining party has been prejudiced or a miscarriage of justice has occurred. *Fagg Mill Work & Lumber Co. v. Greer*, 102 Fla. 955, 136 So. 679 (1931); *Buchanan v. Smith*, 103 Fla. 1130, 140 So. 775 (1932); and *Woodruff v. Lantana Finance Corporation*,

⁸ See also (R.O.R. 14) "The Court has reviewed the evidence in this case and has assigned great weight to the opinion of Dr. Eustace to explain otherwise inexplicable behavior for a person of Mr. Brownstein's experience, character and standing in the community."

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